FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 3/23/2020 3:31 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/24/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. <u>98316-0</u>

ADVANCED H20, LLC & TYSON FRESH MEATS, INC.,

Petitioners

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II No. 51468-1-II (Consolidated with No. 51313-0-II)

### CORRECTED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brett S. Durbin, WSBA No. 35781 LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, WA 98111-9402 Telephone: 206.223.7000

Attorneys for Advanced H20, LLC & Tyson Fresh Meats, Inc.

### I. INTRODUCTION

Advanced H2O, LLC ("Advanced H2O") and Tyson Fresh Meats, Inc. ("Tyson") (collectively "Appellants") leased pallets from CHEP USA ("CHEP") for the sole purpose of transferring the pallets to their customers, along with a corresponding sale of their respective products. The Court of Appeals nevertheless concluded that Appellants' lease transactions are not exempt from retail sales and use tax under RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) as a "lease-for-sublease" or, alternatively, under WAC 458–20–115 ("Rule 115") as a resale of packing materials. In so holding, the Court of Appeals violated Washington courts' well-established principles of statutory construction and fundamentally altered the plain meaning of these exemptions.

First, the requirements for sales-for-resale in RCW 82.04.050(1)(a) are not applicable to leases-for-sublease transactions in RCW 82.05.050(4)(b). For the Court of Appeals to conclude otherwise conflicts with this Court's established plain meaning analysis from cases such as *State v. Evergreen Freedom Foundation*, 192 Wn.2d 782, 789-90, 432 P.3d 805 (2019) and many others, and renders section (4)(b) superfluous and without meaning.

Second, it is an "axiom of statutory interpretation that where a term is defined" courts must use that definition. *U.S. v. Hoffman*, 154 Wn.2d 730,

741, 116 P.3d 999 (2005). The Legislature has required that a specialized definition of "lease" be used for all sales and use tax purposes. RCW 82.04.040(3)(a). Using Black's Law Dictionary to impart a "common meaning" into RCW 82.040.050(4)(b), as the Court of Appeals did, alters the plain meaning of the statute and is contrary to the Legislature's intent.

Finally, no evidence supports the Court of Appeals' conclusion that Appellants' pallet transactions do not meet the plain meaning of RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) or, alternatively, Rule 115. Appellants received valid consideration from their customers in exchange for indefinitely transferring possession and control of the leased pallets along with the sale of specific goods. Under either the ordinary application of either authority, Appellants' pallet leases are exempt from retail sales and use tax.

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4) to correct the Court of Appeals' errors and reinstate the exemptions as set forth by the Legislature.

### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) exempts from tax leasing of tangible property where the lease is for the purpose of sublease. Did the Court of Appeals err when it incorporated unrelated statutory provisions into the statute in contravention of this Court's plain meaning rule?
- 2. The Legislature established a special, statutory definition for "lease"

that applies to all uses of the term in the State's retail sales and use tax laws. Did the Court of Appeals err when it substituted a common dictionary definition for the statutory definition in the lease-for-sublease exemption found in RCW 82.04.050(4)(b)?

3. Does substantial evidence support the Board of Tax Appeal's conclusion that Appellants' received valid consideration from their customers in exchange for indefinitely transferring possession and control of the leased pallets?

### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Appellants' Lease Pallets For the Purpose of Transferring the Pallets to their Customers

Advanced H2O manufactures and sells bottled water and other beverages in Washington. AR-H2O 91 ¶ 4.1 Tyson processes and sells meat products in Washington. AR-Tyson 88 ¶ 3. Both companies leased pallets for the purpose of transferring their products with the pallets to their customers. Specifically, they place their products onto the pallets and deliver both the pallets and the products to the customer. AR-H2O 91 ¶ 6; AR-Tyson 88 ¶ 4.

Both Appellants acquire the pallets by signing "Hire Agreements" with CHEP USA ("CHEP"). AR-H2O 91 ¶ 7; AR-Tyson 88 ¶ 5. CHEP

3

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 1}$   $\,$  This brief refers to the respective administrative records of Taxpayers as "AR-H2O" and "AR-Tyson."

charges a flat "Issue Fee" for each pallet based on the anticipated amount of time that Appellants will have possession of the pallets. AR-H2O 122, 123 ¶ 3; AR-Tyson 102, 115. In exchange for the flat Issue Fee, Taxpayers have the right to possess the pallet indefinitely; the Hire Agreement is an ongoing agreement with no fixed term. *See* AR-H2O 113, 118 ¶ 12(b) (CHEP can only require the return of pallets from Appellants upon termination of the Hire Agreement).

Appellants also receive pallets from other CHEP participants. If the pallets from other participants are empty, CHEP assesses an "Inbound Movement Fee" in lieu of the Issue Fee. *See* AR-H2O 123 ¶ 4, 138-39 (separating CHEP-issued pallets and empty pallets Advanced H2O received from other CHEP participants). If Appellants receive the pallets as part of a shipment of goods from another CHEP participant, CHEP assesses no fee. AR-H2O 122-23; AR-Tyson 104 ¶ 5. Nothing in the Hire Agreement prohibits CHEP participants from charging each other when transferring possession of pallets. AR-H2O 113–25; AR-Tyson 111–14. Both Advanced H2O and Tyson factor the Issue Fee and Inbound Movement Fee into the amounts they charge their customers for their products. AR-H2O 91 ¶ 8; AR-Tyson 88 ¶ 6.

# B. The Board of Tax Appeals Correctly Found that Appellants' Lease-for-Sublease Transactions were Exempt from Tax

Advanced H2O filed a refund request with the Department for the sales taxes it paid on CHEP rental fees for the January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2011, tax periods. AR-H2O 91 ¶ 3. The Department denied the refund request and Advanced H2O appealed the denial to the Department's Appeals Division. AR-H2O 92. The Appeals Division affirmed the denial and Advanced H2O appealed to the Board of Tax Appeals. *Id*.

The Department audited Tyson for the January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2010, tax periods. AR-Tyson 147. The Department assessed Tyson for unpaid use tax on the payments Tyson made to CHEP for the pallets. AR-Tyson 152. Tyson appealed the assessment to the Department's Appeals Division. AR 89  $\P$  9. The Appeals Division affirmed the assessment and Tyson appealed to the Board. *Id*.

In separate proceedings, the Board granted summary judgment to both Advanced H2O and Tyson. AR-H2O 22-31; AR-Tyson 10-19. The Board held that Appellants' lease of pallets from CHEP were exempt from sales tax because (1) each transferred possession of the pallets to their customers in satisfaction of the definition of "lease" in RCW 82.04.040(3)(a) and the "lease-for-sublease" exemption under RCW 82.04.050(4)(b); and (2) each leased pallets from CHEP as leases of

"packing materials" for sublease to its customers under WAC 458-20-115(2), (3)(a), and (6)(c). AR-H2O 22-31; AR-Tyson 10-19.

The Department of Revenue sought judicial review. AR-H2O 3-5; AR-Tyson 3-7. The Thurston County Superior Court reversed the Board of Tax Appeals in both cases. Advanced H20 and Tyson each timely appealed and the matters were consolidated. The Court of Appeals reversed the Board of Tax Appeals. Department of Revenue v. Advanced H20, LLC, 11 Wn. App. 2d 384, 405, 453 P.3d 1011 (2019) (Appendix A). Appellants asked the Court of Appeals to reconsider. The Court of Appeals denied the request on February 21, 2020. Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, No. 51468-1-II (Appendix B). Appellants now seek review to correct the Court of Appeals' revisions to the State's tax law and reinstate the plain meaning of the applicable exemptions.

### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The Court of Appeals' statutory analysis is not consistent with this Court's well-settled instructions for how to derive the plain meaning of statutes. Specifically, the Court of Appeals failed to give meaning to the words set explicitly by the Legislature for lease-for-sublease transactions

This is matter is a judicial review under the Administrative Procedure Act, RCW 34.05, thus the Court of Appeals reviewed the Board of Tax Appeals' orders de novo. *See Teamsters Local Union No. 117 v. Dep't of Corrections*, 179 Wn. App. 110, 117 n. 5, 317 P.3d 111 (2014) (citing *Postema v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 142 Wn.2d 68, 77, 11 P.3d 726 (2000)).

and adopted a more narrow interpretation that is not consistent with the plain meaning of the law.

This case concerns two distinct issues. First, whether Appellants' pallet leases are exempt from taxation under RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) when Appellants leased the pallets for the purpose of transferring possession of the pallets to their customers in exchange for consideration. Second and alternatively, whether the leases are exempt from taxation under Rule 115 because Appellants acquired the pallets for inclusion as packing materials with the sale of their respective products. The Court of Appeals' analysis failed to carry out the Legislature's intent to exempt lease-for-sublease transactions from retail sales tax. Advanced H20 and Tyson respectfully ask this Court to grant review to set the proper analysis for these provisions.

# C. Appellants' Pallet Transactions Satisfy the Lease-for-Sublease Exemption in RCW 82.04.050(4)(b)

A court's fundamental objective when construing a statute is to ascertain and carry out the Legislature's intent. *Evergreen Freedom Found.*, 192 Wn.2d at 789. The court must look at the "entire context of the statute in which the provision is found, as well as related provisions, amendments to the provision, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *Id.* (internal quotations and alternations omitted). Further, "no part of a statute should be deemed inoperative or superfluous unless it is the result of obvious mistake

or error." *Filo Foods, LLC v. City of SeaTac*, 183 Wn.2d 770, 787, 357 P.3d 1040 (2015) (quoting *In re Det. of Strand*, 167 Wn.2d 180, 189, 217 P.3d 1159 (2009). The Court of Appeals failed to adhere to these instructions when it adopted an overly restricted reading of the test for the lease-for-sublease exemption in RCW 82.04.050 that is not supported by the plain text of the relevant statutes and effectively writes the exemption out of the tax code. This Court should grant review and reinstate the Board of Tax Appeals' correct decisions below.

### 1. The Court of Appeals Applied the Wrong Test for Lease-for-Sublease Transactions

Retail sales tax is imposed on "each retail sale" of tangible personal property, unless the sale is "explicitly excluded" in RCW 82.04.050. *See* RCW 82.08.020(1). "Retail sales" means "any sale, *lease* or rental for any purpose *other than for resale, sublease, or subrent.*" RCW 82.08.010(11) (emphasis added). Further, under RCW 82.04.050(4)(b), the "leasing of tangible personal property where the lease . . . is for the purpose of sublease" is explicitly excluded from the definition of "retail sales." A lease constitutes "any transfer of possession or control of tangible personal property for a fixed or indeterminate term for consideration." RCW 82.04.040(3)(a). Thus, under a plain reading of these statutes, any person who obtains a lease "for the purpose" of transferring "possession or control"

of the leased property to another lessee for "a fixed or indeterminate term" for "consideration" is not required to pay retail sales tax on the original lease transaction. RCW 82.04.040(3)(a), .050(4)(b); RCW 82.08.010(11).

The Court of Appeals, however, adopted a different standard that is not supported by the plain text of these statutes. Specifically, the Court of Appeals incorporated the terms of RCW 82.04.050(1)(a)(i) into the analysis of RCW 82.04.050(4)(b). The Court of Appeals thus concluded that, to qualify for the exception, a taxpayer has to show they (1) leased the pallets for sublease, (2) subleased the pallets in their regular course of business, and (3) did not make intervening use of the pallets before sublease. *See Advanced H20*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 397-98. *See id.* However, the statutory requirements for the resale of tangible property exception found in RCW 82.04.050(1)(a)(i) simply are not applicable to the lease-for-sublease exemption found in RCW 82.04.050(4)(b).<sup>3</sup>

Even though both sales and leases can constitute a "retail sale," the tax statutes treat them as different transactions for purposes of the retail sales tax exception. *See*, *e.g.*, RCW 82.08.010(11) ("Retail sale" means

,

The Court of Appeals also relied on *Dep't of Revenue v. Sprint Spectrum, LP*, 174 Wn. App. 645, 302 P.3d 1280 (2013) to require Appellants to show "they purchased the [pallets] for resale or sublease" and "have not made *intervening use* of the purchased items." *Advanced H20*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 402 (emphasis in original). *Sprint Spectrum* concerned only sales-for-resales under RCW 82.04.050(1)(a), and thus is also not applicable to the lease transactions here. *See Sprint Spectrum*, 174 Wn. App. at 662–63.

"any sale, lease, *or* rental for any purpose *other than* resale, sublease, *or* subrent" (emphases added)). This separate treatment is evident by the structure and language used in RCW 82.04.050. Subsection (1)(a)(i) addresses a retail sales exception for "sale[s] to a person who . . . purchases for the purpose of resale." It also requires that the purchase be made "in the regular course of business without intervening use" for the exception to apply. *See* RCW 82.04.050(1)(a)(i). In contrast, subsection (4)(b) addresses the exception for "leasing . . . for the purpose of sublease" and does not contain any language similar to an "intervening use" requirement. RCW 82.04.050(4)(b).

If the Court of Appeals were correct that the terms of section (1)(a)(i) extend to lease-for-sublease transactions simply because both sales and leases fall under the definition of "retail sales," then section (4)(b) would be entirely unnecessary. Alternatively, for the "intervening use" test in (1)(a)(i) to apply to lease-for-sublease transactions, the Court of Appeals had to add language to section (4)(b) that the Legislature did not specifically include. Both assumptions are incorrect as a matter of statutory interpretation. The Court of Appeals violated this Court's repeated instruction "to not add words where the legislature has chosen not to include them." *See, e.g., Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 527, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010).

The Court of Appeals should have "presume[d] the Legislature means exactly what it says," *Wright v. Lyft, Inc.*, 189 Wn.2d 718, 727, 406 P.3d 1149 (2017), and construed the statues so that "all the language used is given effect, *with no portion* rendered meaningless or superfluous," *Assoc. Press v. Washington State Leg.*, 194 Wn.2d 915, 920, 454 P.3d 93 (2019) (emphasis added). By using different language in sections (1)(a)(i) and (4) of RCW 82.04.050, the Legislature intended different requirements to apply to the sales-for-resale and leases-for-sublease exceptions. *See United Parcel Service, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 102 Wn.2d 355, 362, 687 P.2d 186 (1984) (noting that it is an "elementary rule" that the presence of term in one provision and the absence in another means a "difference in legislative intent"). This Court should grant review to reinstate the plain meaning of these statutes.

# 2. The Court Misapprehended Both RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) and Appellants' Lease Transactions

The Court also erred in its construction of RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) and misapprehended the nature of Appellants' lease transactions with their customers.

# a. A lease-for-sublease transaction does not require transferring ownership rights

As a threshold issue requiring this Court's review, the Court of should not have imported a common dictionary definition into RCW

82.04.050(4)(b) instead of using the Legislature's explicitly defined terms. By doing so, the Court of Appeals violated the axiom of statutory construction that where a term is defined the court must use that definition. *Hoffman*, 154 Wn.2d at at 741. More importantly, it fundamentally altered the plain meaning of the statute.

When interpreting RCW 82.04.050(4)(b), the Court of Appeals should have followed other courts and evaluated the language only in context with the defined terms. See Solvay Chemicals, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue, 4 Wn. App. 2d 918, 926 n.6, 424 P.3d 1238 (2018) (declining to apply dictionary definition to statutorily defined term, noting that "[o]nly where a term is undefined will it be given its plain and ordinary definition"). The Legislature crafted a definition for "lease" that must be used for all "sales and use tax purposes." See RCW 82.04.040(3)(a) ("The definition ... must be used for sales and use tax purposes regardless if a transaction is characterized as a lease or rental under generally accepted accounting principles, the United States internal revenue code, Washington state's commercial code, or other provisions of federal, state, or local law"). RCW 82.040.050(4)(b) uses both "lease" and "sublease." It does not make sense for the Legislature to require a specialized definition for one and not the other, especially when the latter transaction (sublease) can only follow from the former (lease).

Moreover, the Court of Appeals fundamentally changed the meaning of RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) by incorporating a "common" dictionary definition into the statute. Compare RCW 82.04.040(3)(a) (defining "lease or rental") with Lease, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019). Black's Law Dictionary defines a "lease" in terms of conveying "the right to use" property in exchange of consideration. Lease, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019); accord Sublease, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019) ("A lease by a lessee to a third party, transferring the right to possession to some or all of the leased property for a term shorter than that of the lessee, who retains a right of reversion"). In contrast, the tax code definition encompasses "any transfer of possession or control of tangible personal property for a fixed or indeterminate term for consideration." RCW 82.04.040(3)(a) (emphasis added).<sup>4</sup> Thus, applying the definition to that of sublease for purposes of the retail sales tax exception in RCW 82.04.050(4)(b), requires one lessee to obtain a lease for the purpose of transferring possession or control of the leased property to another lessee for a fixed or indeterminate term in exchange for consideration.

The Court of Appeals thus added requirements that are not found in the plain meaning of RCW 82.04.050(4)(b). If left to stand, the Court of

While it would not be appropriate under RCW 82.040.040(3)(a) to use an alternate definition, the tax code is more in line with the definition of "assignment," which is the "transfer of rights or property." *Assignment*, Black's Law Dictionary (11th ed. 2019).

Appeals' opinion mandates that, rather than looking to whether a taxpayer has transferred possession or control of personal property, courts and the Board of Tax Appeals must look to whether the taxpayer transferred legal *rights* to the property akin to ownership. *See, e.g., Advanced H20*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 399 (describing a lease as an exchange "for the *right* to possess or control" property); *id.* at 400 (noting that Appellants' *right* to possess or control ended upon transferring the pallets to their customers). Such an analysis is inconsistent with plain meaning of RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) and mandates this Court's correction.

# b. Appellants' Transactions Constitute a Lease-for Sublease

Applying the correct statutory language, the Court of Appeals should have concluded that Appellants' pallet transactions with their customers fall under the plain terms of a lease-for-sublease under RCW 82.04.050(4)(b).

The Court of Appeals found it relevant that, once Appellants transferred pallets to a customer, Appellants' own right to possess and control the pallets ended. *See Advanced H20*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 400. From this, the Court of Appeals jumped to the tautological conclusion that Appellants could not sublease the pallets "when they no longer lease the pallet[s] themselves." *Id.* But such a conclusion misconstrues the nature and

legal effect of a sublease. For each transfer to take place, the original lessee *must* release possession and control of the property at issue. And there is nothing in the tax code that requires these transactions to be ongoing, as the Court of Appeals held.

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