FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/22/2020 4:33 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98316-0

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ADVANCED H2O, LLC & TYSON FRESH MEATS, INC.,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Rosann Fitzpatrick, WSBA No. 37092 Assistant Attorney General Revenue Division, OID No. 90127 P.O. Box 40123 Olympia, WA 98504-0123 (360) 753-5515

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

IV. REASONS WHY THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

As a basis for review, the Manufacturers make only passing reference to RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4), which permit review by this Court if the petitioner shows the decision below conflicts with existing appellate authority or raises an issue of substantial public importance. This Court should deny the petition because the Court of Appeals' decision neither conflicts with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals, nor raises an issue of substantial public interest. Rather, the opinion correctly applies the plain meaning of the tax statutes in concluding the undisputed facts preclude the pallet rentals from qualifying as wholesale sales.

Specifically, the rented pallets do not qualify as a lease "for the purpose of sublease" under RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) and WAC 458-20-211, because the Manufacturers acquired the pallets for their own use in delivering their products to customers, and their lease ended upon the transfer of possession. Property that is no longer under lease cannot be "subleased." Further, the rented pallets do not qualify under the sale "for the purpose of resale" exclusion under RCW 82.04.050(1)(a)(i) and WAC 458-20-115 because the Manufacturers did not, and could not, "resell" the pallets to their customers. Rather, each successive transferee in the supply chain leased the pallets from CHEP.

The Court of Appeals' analysis of the issues in no way diverged from this Court's plain meaning analysis, and is cogent and correct. There is no need for this Court to grant review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Precedent: The Court Applied a Straightforward Plain Meaning Analysis to Hold That the Leased Pallets Were Not Exempt as Leases "For the Purpose Of Sublease"

Although couched in terms of an alleged conflict with precedent regarding statutory construction, the Manufacturers' primary argument amounts to a disagreement with the Court of Appeals' legal analysis involving the meaning of lease "for the purpose of sublease." *See* Pet. at 13 ("[T]he Court of Appeals fundamentally changed the meaning" of

the statute by giving the term "sublease" its ordinary meaning.). The Court of Appeals did not err. The Manufacturers simply advocate for a hyper technical and unrealistic interpretation that is contrary to the plain meaning of the tax statutes, well-established Washington case law on wholesale sales, and common sense.

The Court of Appeals' decision is unremarkable under the facts: the Manufacturers did not sublease the pallets to their customers because they had no rights in the pallets after transfer and their customers were already under contract with CHEP to lease the same pallets. Contrary to the Manufacturers' arguments, the Court of Appeals' decision comports entirely with the plain meaning of the governing tax statutes.

1. The pallet rentals are "retail sales" under the plain meaning of the tax statutes

The Manufacturers contend review is necessary because the Court of Appeals' decision fails to carry out the legislative intent to exempt lease-for-sublease transactions from retail sales tax. But the Court of Appeals correctly held that the pallet rental transactions do not qualify as leases-for-sublease under the plain meaning of the tax statutes.

Washington imposes a retail sales tax on "each retail sale," including "successive retail sales of the same property."

RCW 82.08.020(1), (6).² A "retail sale" "includes the renting or leasing of tangible personal property to consumers." RCW 82.04.050(4)(a). "Consumer" is broadly defined to include "any person who purchases, acquires, owns, holds, or uses any article of tangible personal property irrespective of the nature of the person's business" other than for an exempt "purpose." RCW 82.04.190(1). "Lease or rental" means "any transfer of possession or control of tangible personal property for a fixed or indeterminate term for consideration." RCW 82.04.040(3)(a). A lease or rental of tangible personal property is exempt from retail sales tax only if it was "for the purpose of sublease or subrent." RCW 82.08.010(11). Likewise, a sale of tangible personal property is exempt if it was "for the purpose of resale as tangible personal property in the regular course of business without intervening use." RCW 82.04.050(1)(a)(i).

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Manufacturers' pallet rentals plainly do not qualify as leases-for-sublease because the Manufacturers rented the pallets for their own use in delivering products, and they did not sublease the pallets to their customers.

² Washington also imposes a use tax, which is a complementary tax applicable to each retail sale on which the sales tax was not previously paid for whatever reason. RCW 82.12.020(1)(a); *Glen Park Assocs., LLC v. Dep't of Revenue*, 119 Wn. App. 481, 494 n.1, 82 P.3d 664 (2003). The use tax incorporates by reference most of the same statutory exemptions applicable to a retail sale. *Activate, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 150 Wn. App. 807, 814, 209 P.3d 524 (2009). The legislative intent of the sales and use tax scheme is to tax each item of tangible personal property that is sold or used in Washington as a consumer, absent a specific statutory exception.

The Manufacturers contend the Court of Appeals erroneously relied on Black's Law Dictionary in giving meaning to the term "sublease." They claim the court "fundamentally altered the plain meaning of the statute" in doing so. Pet. at 12. But as the Court of Appeals correctly observed, the Legislature did not, in fact, define "sublease" or "subrent." *Advanced H2O*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 400. Thus, it was perfectly appropriate for the Court to consult the dictionary definition of that term.

The dictionary definition used by the Court of Appeals is entirely consistent with the statutory definition of "lease." *Compare* Black's Law Dictionary 1724 (11th ed. 2019) (defining "sublease" as "a lease by a lessee to a third party, transferring the right to possession to some or all of the leased property for a term shorter than that of the lessee") *with* RCW 82.04.040(3)(a) ("Lease or rental' means any transfer of possession or control of tangible personal property for a fixed or indeterminate term for consideration.").

Contrary to the Manufacturers' argument, the statute defining "lease" does not create a "specialized" meaning that materially differs from the common law or common dictionary definition of the term. Pet. at 12. In fact, the statute codifies the common law elements: the exchange of consideration for the right to possess or use property for a period of time.

Because the Manufacturers' lease of the pallets ended upon transferring possession to their customers, they did not, and could not, "sublease" the pallets as part of their product sales. As a matter of law, the amount the Manufacturers' customers paid for the products they purchased was not "consideration" for their own possession or use of the pallets for any period of time. RCW 82.04.040(3)(a) (defining "lease").

The Manufacturers argue that "sublease" must be given a much broader meaning than its common law or dictionary definition because "lease" is statutorily defined as a transfer of possession, not the transfer of a legal "right" to possession. This is a distinction without a difference. The existence of *any* sale transaction imports a contractual (and thus legally enforceable) right in the buyer to receive the bargained-for consideration. *See* RCW 82.04.040(1) ("sale' means any transfer of the ownership of, title to, or possession of property for a valuable consideration[.]"). In the context of a lease transaction, consideration is paid in exchange for the right to possess and control the leased property for a period of time. Like the common law or dictionary definition, the statutory meaning of "lease" requires a transfer of possession (or right to possession) of the property for a period of time, for consideration. The Court of Appeals did not err by relying on the Black's Law Dictionary definition of "sublease."

2. The Manufacturers acquired the pallets for a purpose "other than for sublease"

The Manufacturers assert the Court of Appeals applied the "wrong test" by incorporating the terms of the purchase-for-resale exclusion under RCW 82.04.050(1)(a)(i) into the analysis of the lease-for-sublease exclusion under RCW 82.04.050(4)(b). Pet. at 8. Specifically, the Manufacturers claim the court erroneously held that their "intervening use" of the rented pallets was a taxable event precluding wholesale sale treatment of the pallet rentals. The Court of Appeals did not err.

RCW 82.04.050(1)(a)(i) excludes from the definition of "retail sale" sales of tangible personal property "for the purpose of resale as tangible personal property in the regular course of business without intervening use[.]" Under this definition, a business must pay sales or use tax on its own use of an item even if it purchased the item for resale and actually resold that item. *Activate, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 150 Wn. App. 807, 818, 209 P.3d 524 (2009). The lease-for-sublease exclusion under RCW 82.04.050(4)(b) does not specifically reference "intervening use." RCW 82.04.050(4)(b). However, the tax regulation on leasing and renting tangible personal property explains that a lessee's intervening use of leased property disqualifies it from claiming a wholesale sale exemption. WAC 458-20-211(5)(a)(ii). The Court of Appeals properly applied the tax

regulation in rejecting the Manufacturers' contention that their pallet rentals qualified as wholesale sales.

Contrary to the Manufacturers' argument, the "intervening use" analysis applies as much to a rental transaction as to an ordinary sale of tangible personal property. The Legislature broadly defined "retail sale" to include "any sale, lease, or rental for *any purpose* other than for resale, sublease, or subrent." RCW 82.08.010(11) (emphasis added). A purchaser's own use of the property prior to a subsequent sale, lease, or rental shows the property was acquired for a purpose "other than for resale, sublease, or subrent." Here, the Manufacturers leased the pallets for their own use in delivering products to customers, they actually used the pallets for that purpose, and they retained possession and control of the pallets for the entire rental period covered by their rental payments to CHEP. The Court of Appeals did not err in holding that Advanced H2O's and Tyson's own use of the pallets in delivering their products to customers disqualified the pallet rentals from wholesale treatment.

The Manufacturers provide no appellate authority from any jurisdiction supporting the proposition that renting property for use in delivering products to customers is not a "purpose other than for resale" or "sublease" for sales and use tax purposes. Instead, they resort to a hypertechnical and unrealistic application of the lease-for-sublease

exclusion that defies common sense and conflicts with related statutory provisions requiring businesses to pay sales or use tax on the items they use in carrying out their business activities.³

3. The selling price of the Manufacturers' products was not "consideration" for their customers' possession of the pallets for purposes of a "sublease"

The Court of Appeals correctly held that the Manufacturers' ability to recoup their pallet rental costs by factoring them into the price of their products did not convert their product sales into a "sublease" of the pallets used in delivering goods to customers. The Manufacturers' arguments to the contrary ignore the essential feature of a lease: the payment of consideration in exchange for the possession or control of tangible personal property for a period of time. The Manufacturers could not sublease equipment they no longer had under lease.

³ The Court of Appeals' decision here is consistent with numerous decisions from jurisdictions with similar statutes addressing the very same form of pallet rental agreement between CHEP and its customers. *See Brambles Indus., Inc. v. Indiana Dep't of Revenue*, 892 N.E.2d 1287 (2008) (rental of CHEP pallets does not qualify as an exempt sale-for-resale of "nonreturnable" containers); *In the Matter of the Appeal of Imperial Sugar Company from a Decision by the Department of Revenue*, 2002-108, 6/11/2003 (Wyo. Bd. Eq.) (rented pallets are not "components" of products sold by CHEP lessee); Advisory Opinion No. S080811A, 10/18/2011, N.Y. Dep't of Taxation & Finance (leased pallets in a pooling arrangement are not sales-for-resale or sales of exempt packaging materials); Private Letter Ruling #04-015, 5/31/2005, Utah Tax Comm. (CHEP lessee is "the final consumer of the pallets for that period for which it is entitled to the right of possession or use under the lease"); California Sales Tax Counsel Ruling No. 195.1526 (1/2/98; 5/14/98) (a manufacturer's lease of pallets in a pooling arrangement "is subject to use tax measured by rentals payable"). AR-H2O 220-50.

The rental fees the Manufacturers paid to CHEP covered the rental period during which they were using the pallets themselves. There was no overlap in their own rental period and the rental period commencing when their customers took possession. Thus, the amounts the Manufacturers charged for their products was not "consideration" for their customers' right to possess or control the transferred pallets for *any* period of time. RCW 82.04.040(3)(a) (defining "lease or rental"). As the Court of Appeals stated: "The Manufacturers cannot sublease a pallet when they no longer lease the pallet themselves. Thus, the Manufacturers' claim that it subleased the pallets to their customers is simply not possible within the plain meaning of a sublease and the framework of their own pallet leases with CHEP." *Advanced H2O*, at 11 Wn. App. 2d at 400.

The Court of Appeals' analysis is consistent with well-established Washington case law. Washington courts interpreting the resale exemption have consistently held that items a seller uses to provide a service or sell a product are not resold to the customer, regardless of whether the expense is factored into the selling price. *See, e.g., Black v. State*, 67 Wn.2d 97, 103, 406 P.2d 761 (1965) (corporation leasing a cruise ship did not resell it by leasing out individual cabins); *Activate*, 150 Wn. App. 807 (seller of cellular phone services did not "re-sell" phones it provided at no extra charge); *Mayflower Park Hotel, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 123 Wn. App.

628, 632, 98 P.3d 534 (2004) (hotel did not "re-sell" room furnishings and amenities when it incorporated their cost in the rate charged for each room); *Glen Park Assocs., LLC v. Dep't of Revenue*, 119 Wn. App. 481, 82 P.3d 664 (2003) (purchaser of an apartment building did not acquire the appliances included in the rental units for purposes of resale).

4. The Manufacturers did not "sublease" the pallets to their customers

The Court of Appeals correctly relied on this Court's decision in *Gandy v. State*, 57 Wn.2d 690, 359 P.2d 302 (1961), in concluding the "lease-for-sublease" exemption does not apply where, as here, a lease ends when the leased property is transferred to a third party.

In *Gandy*, this Court explained the renting or leasing of tangible personal property is taxable as a series of sales, in which the taxable incident is the right to continued possession of the leased property for the period of time covered by each rental payment: "Each rental payment relates to a period of possession. It is this possession for which the lessee contracts and for which the periodic consideration is given." *Gandy*, 57 Wn.2d at 695. The Court of Appeals correctly followed *Gandy* in holding the Manufacturers did not acquire the CHEP pallets for the purpose of sublease. *Advanced H2O*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 402.

According to the Manufacturers, *Gandy* is inapposite because it

was decided under a previous version of the sales tax statutes. But there is no material difference between the applicable tax statutes in *Gandy* and in this case. RCW 82.04.040(3)(a) defines "lease or rental" as "any transfer of possession or control of tangible personal property for a fixed or indeterminate term for consideration." This language codifies the common law definition. *See Gandy*, 57 Wn.2d at 694 (describing the "usual definition" of a lease as "a contract whereby one party gives to another the right to the use and possession of property for a specified period of time and, ordinarily, for fixed payments"). The taxable incident of a lease is the exchange of consideration for the right to possess or use property for a period of time. RCW 82.04.040(3)(a). The amounts the Manufacturers charged for their products was not consideration for their customers' own possession or use of the pallets for any period of time.

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